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Physical description of property and statement of historical significance:

The Andrews and Hackleman Building is a two-story Italianate commercial building with a
flat roof and a square floor plan. The front elevation is divided into four bays; on the
right there is a small entry bay with two slightly larger flanking bays, and at the south
corner there is a single large bay.

The ground floor bays are defined by cast iron pilasters with recessed panels and
circular decorations at mid-height. Capitals with sculpted heads below them have been
removed, except for one head in the north corner. The ground floor of the north bay contains
a recessed entry with a modern wood door and round arch, single-light, fixed window at each
side. The second bay contains the stairs to the upper floor and the third bay is a blank
brick wall. The original facade was stuccoed. The corner bay contains a pair of aluminum
frame glass doors on the right and a pair of large, fixed, single-light, aluminum frame
windows at the corner. A flat metal awning is hung below the closed transom.

On the second floor the bays are defined by narrow piers. The corner bay contains three
one/one windows in the round arches that have keystones and an interconnecting architrave
trim at the top. The bay on the right, above the stairway entry, contains one round arched
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window while the flanking bays contain two. Between the second floor windows of the north
bay there is a plaque inscribed with "Andrews and Hackleman 1886." The cornice has been
removed from the parapet.

The side elevation contains a recessed service door in the southwest corner and four ten-
light, metal sash, casement windows on the second floor. The south wall is stuccoed and
unfenestrated.

History

The building was constructed in 1886 by Andrews and C. C. Hackleman, general
merchandisers. At its opening the building was also occupied by a printing shop, drug store,
doctor's office, grocery, and men's furnishings store. In August 1887 a Masonic Hall holding
300 persons was set up on the second floor. The Masonic meetings were held in city hall
originally.

The Lodge, the first fraternal organization in town, received its charter from the Grand
Lodge of Oregon on June 24, 1864. The first six worshipful masters were Richard Chéadle, W.
B. Donaca, E. E. Hammack, Elbert Keebler, S. 0. Wallace, and Jonathan Wassom. An Edstern
Star chapter was organized in 1899 with E. E. Hammack the first worthy patron. The Eastern
Star chapter was named the Margerite Chapter in honor of the first worthy matron, Ella
Margerite Davis Craig. Other charter members included G. T. Cotton, Byron Millsap and George
H. Buhl.
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